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GASMAR S.A. 

BALANCE SHEET 

For the years ended December 2016 and 2015  
(Given in US dollars (USD))

 
 
 

ASSETS 
 

Note 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

  USD  USD 

       

CURRENT ASSETS       

       

Cash and cash equivalents   5                9,188,981   484,741  

Other financial assets  6  141,723   36,610  

Other non-financial assets  11   222,768   61,787  

Trade receivables and other accounts receivable    7   4,883,093   4,857,153  

Trade receivables from other related companies    8  5,396,732   5,338,066  

Inventories   9  31,392,377   36,308,304  

Tax assets   10  3,386,089   0  

       

Total current assets     54,611,763   47,086,661  

       

NON–CURRENT ASSETS       

       

Other non-financial assets     11  56,832   8,598  

Investments accounted for using the equity method   12  1,459,929   1,389,081  

Intangible assets other than goodwill   13  1,566   5,390  

Property, plant and equipment   14.2  91,141,266   94,440,941  

       

Total non-current assets    92,659,593   95,844,010  

       

TOTAL ASSETS    147,271,356   142,930,671  
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GASMAR S.A. 

BALANCE SHEET (continued)  
For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015  
(Given in US dollars (USD)) 

 
 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
 

Note 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

  USD  USD 

       

CURRENT LIABILITIES       

       

Other financial liabilities   16  17,687,842   14,660,268  

Trade payables and other accounts payable   17  23,329,096   16,446,069  

Accounts payable to related companies   8  371,074   628,935  

Tax liabilities   10  0   555,173  

       

Total current liabilities    41,388,012   32,290,445  

       

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES       

       

Other financial liabilities   16  23,585,078   23,591,745  

Deferred tax liabilities   15  15,480,730   15,625,910  

Employee benefit provisions   18  1,679,959   1,137,718  

       

Total non-current liabilities    40,745,767   40,355,373  

       

TOTAL LIABILITIES    82,133,779   72,645,818  

       

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY       

       

Capital stock issued   19   7,875,601   7,875,601  

Retained earnings (losses)   19  45,327,535   44,064,536  

Other reserves   19  11,934,441   18,344,716  

       

Equity attributable to the controller’s owners    65,137,577   70,284,853  

       

Total shareholders’ equity    65,137,577   70,284,853  

       

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    147,271,356   142,930,671  
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GASMAR S.A.                                                                                                                                                                        

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME STATEMENT 
For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 
(Given in US dollars (USD))

 
 

INCOME STATEMENT BY FUNCTION                                                                                                                                   

 From  01/01/2016  01/01/2015 

 To  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 Note  USD  USD 

       

Current revenue   20  404,376,335   293,428,794  

Sales cost   21  (370,005,280)  (258,082,869) 

       

Gross profit    34,371,055   35,345,925  

       

Other revenue by function   20  252,590   250,631  

Administration expenses   21  (3,145,867)  (2,919,024) 

Other profits (losses)   21  (61,326)  (27,255) 

       

Profit (loss) from operating activities    31,416,452   32,650,277  

       

Financial income   22  12,051   4,352  

Financial costs   22  (1,894,735)  (1,854,309) 

Share of profit (loss) of related companies and joint ventures that are accounted 
for using the equity method   12  504,449   458,601  

Exchange rate differences   22  (203,420)  491,325  

       

Profit (loss) before tax    29,834,797   31,750,246  

       

Income tax expense   23  (7,119,030)  (6,898,130) 

       

Profit (loss)    22,715,767   24,852,116  

       

Earnings per share       

Earnings (loss) per basic share   24  0.00740950   0.00810630  

       

Number of shares    3,065,772,798   3,065,772,798  
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GASMAR S.A.                                                                                                                                                                        

 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME STATEMENT (continued)                                                                                                                                   
For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 
(Given in US dollars (USD)) 

 
 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME STATEMENT 

 From  01/01/2016  01/01/2015 

 To  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 Note  USD  USD 
       

Profit (loss)    22,715,767   24,852,116  
       

Components of other comprehensive income which shall not be reclassified to 
income in the year before tax 

 
     

Other comprehensive income before tax, profit (loss) due to revaluation  19.7  (571,087)   0  

Other comprehensive income before tax, actuarial profit (loss) for defined benefit plans  19.7  (126,903)  83,796  
       

Other comprehensive income which shall not be reclassified to income in the year 
before tax    (697,990)  83,796  

       

Components of other comprehensive income which shall be reclassified to income in the 
year before tax       

Exchange rate differences from conversion       
       

Profit (loss) from exchange rate differences from conversion before tax  19.7  0   (69,534) 
       

Other comprehensive income before tax, exchange rate differences from conversion    0   (69,534) 
       

Cash flow hedging       
       

Profit (loss) from exchange rate differences from conversion before tax  19.7  (6,179,174)  (509,389) 

Cash flow hedging reclassification adjustments before tax  19.7  509,389   (4,869,613) 
       

Other comprehensive income before tax, cash flow hedging    (5,669,785)  (5,379,002) 
       

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to income in the year, before tax    (5,669,785)  (5,448,536) 
       

Other components of other comprehensive income, before tax    (6,367,775)  (5,364,740) 
       

Income tax related to components of other comprehensive income that shall not be 
reclassified to income in the year 

 
     

Income tax related to changes in the revaluation surplus of other comprehensive income  19.7  154,194   0  

Income tax related to defined benefit plans of other comprehensive income  19.7  34,264   (18,854) 
       

Income tax related to the components of other comprehensive income which 
shall not be reclassified to income in the year    188,458   (18,854) 

       

Income tax related to the components of other comprehensive income which 
shall be reclassified to income in the year 

 
     

Income tax related to cash flow hedging of other comprehensive income  19.7  1,368,389   1,137,231  
       

Income tax related to the components of other comprehensive income which 
shall be reclassified to income in the year    1,368,389   1,137,231  

       

Other comprehensive income    (4,810,928)  (4,246,363) 
       

Total comprehensive income    17,904,839   20,605,753  
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GASMAR S.A.                                                                                                                                                                        

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  
For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 
(Given in US dollars (USD))

 
 

Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity 

 

Capital 
stock 
issued 

 Reserves  

Retained 
earnings 

(loss) 

 
Shareholders’ 

equity 

              

  
Revaluation 

surplus 
 

Reserves for 
exchange 

rate 
difference  

conversions 

 
Cash flow 
hedging 
reserves 

 

Actuarial profit 
or loss reserves in 

defined benefit 
plans 

 Total reserves   

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity  

 USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD 
                   

Shareholders’ equity for the year beginning 1 January 2016  7,875,601   19,268,684   (208,158)  (394,777)  (321,033)  18,344,716   44,064,536   70,284,853  
    

               

Changes in shareholders’ equity                 

Comprehensive income                 

  

Profit (loss)                     22,715,767   22,715,767  

Other comprehensive income     (416,893)  0   (4,301,396)  (92,639)  (4,810,928)     (4,810,928) 

Total comprehensive income  0   (416,893)  0   (4,301,396)  (92,639)  (4,810,928)  22,715,767   17,904,839  

  
  

               

Dividends                    (23,052,115)  (23,052,115) 

Increase (decrease) due to transfers and other equity 
changes  

0  (1,599,347)  0   0   0   (1,599,347)  1,599,347   0  

                   

Total increase (decrease) in shareholders’ equity  0   (2,016,240)  0   (4,301,396)  (92,639)  (6,410,275)  1,262,999   (5,147,276) 
    

               

Shareholders’ equity for the year ended 31 December 2016  7,875,601   17,252,444   (208,158)  (4,696,173)  (413,672)  11,934,441   45,327,535   65,137,577  
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GASMAR S.A.                                                                                                                                                                        

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (continued)                                                                                                                                  
For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 
(Given in US dollars (USD))

 

Reserves for exchange rate difference conversions 

 

Capital 
stock 
issued 

 Reserves  

Retained 
earnings 

(loss) 

 
Shareholders’ 

equity 

              

  
Revaluation 

surplus 
 

Reserves for 
exchange 

rate 
difference  

conversions 

 
Cash flow 
hedging 
reserves 

 

Actuarial profit 
or loss reserves in 

defined benefit 
plans 

 Total reserves   

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity 

 USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD 

                   

Shareholders’ equity for the year beginning 1 January 2015  7,875,601   20,868,034   (138,624)  3,846,994   (385,975)  24,190,429   52,196,295   84,262,325  

                   

Changes in shareholders’ equity                 

Comprehensive income                 

  

Profit (loss)                    24,852,116   24,852,116  

Other comprehensive income     0   (69.534)  (4,241,771)  64,942   (4,246,363)     (4,246,363) 

Total comprehensive income  0   0   (69.534)  (4,241,771)  64,942   (4,246,363)  24,852,116   20,605,753  

                   

Dividends                 0   (34,583,225)  (34,583,225) 

Increase (decrease) due to transfers and other changes, 
equity  

0   (1,599,350)  0   0   0   (1,599,350)  1,599,350   0  

                   

Total increase (decrease) in shareholders’ equity  0   (1,599,350)  (69,534)  (4,241,771)  64,942   (5,845,713)  (8,131,759)  (13,977,472) 

                   

Shareholders’ equity for the year ended 31 December 2015   7,875,601   19,268,684   (208,158)  (394,777)  (321,033)              18,344,716   44,064.536   70,284,853  
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GASMAR S.A.                                                                                                                                                                        

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 
(Given in US dollars (USD)) 

 
 

DIRECT METHOD CASH FLOW STATEMENT  

 From  01/01/2016  01/01/2015 

 To  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 Note  USD  USD 
       

Cash flows arising from (used in) operating activities 
       

Types of charges for operating activities       
       

Charges from the sale of goods and provision of services     469,789,563   359,594,672  
       

Types of payments       
       

Payments to suppliers for the supply of goods and services     (420,462,315)  (312,301,228) 

Payments to and on behalf of employees     (2,813,794)  (2,156,869) 

Other payments for operating activities     (8,921,129)  (8,730,561) 
       

Other charges and operation payments       
       

Dividends received     492,981   250,000  

Interest received     12,054   3,985  

Income tax reimbursed (paid)     (8,160,001)  (5,887,117) 
       

Net cash flows arising from (used in) operating activities    29,937,359   30,772,882  
       

Cash flows arising from (used in) investing activities       

Property, plant and equipment purchases     (500,158)  (1,408,736) 
       

Net cash flows arising from (used in) investing activities    (500,158)  (1,408,736) 
       

Net cash flows arising from (used in) financing activities 
  

     

Total amounts from borrowings    231,232,671   336,642,157  

          - Amounts from long-term borrowings     5,500,000   23,758,412  

          - Amounts from short-term borrowings     225,732,671   312,883,745  

Repayments of borrowings     (227,600,448)  (331,679,975) 

Dividends paid     (23,052,115)  (34,583,225) 

Interest paid     (1,560,552)  (941,986) 
       

Net cash flows arising from (used in) financing activities    (20,980,444)  (30,563,029) 

       

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents prior to the effect of changes in the 
exchange rate    8,456,757  (1,198,883) 

       

Effects of the change in the exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents     247,483  468,155  
       

Net increase (decrease) of cash and cash equivalents    8,704,240   (730,728) 
       

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year  5  484,741   1,215,469  
       

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year                 9,188,981   484,741  
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GASMAR S.A. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015

 
 
1. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

GASMAR S.A. (hereinafter referred to as “Gasmar” or the “Company”) is a subsidiary of GASCO S.A. 
 

GASMAR S.A. is a closely held corporation with corporate domicile at Apoquindo N°3200, 11th floor, in 
the city of Santiago, Chile. The company is registered in the Santiago Commerce Register on sheet 13281, 
Nº6679 of 1992. 
  
The main purpose of GASMAR S.A. is the operation of a shipping terminal, the unloading and storage of 
bulk and liquefied gas, and the purchase and sale of liquefied gas.  
 
These financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 were reported and approved by the 
Board of Directors in Ordinary Board Meeting N°270 held on 17 January 2017. 

 
2. MAIN ACCOUNTING POLICY SUMMARY 
 

The main accounting policies applied to draw up the financial statements are outlined below. These 
policies were applied uniformly to all the years submitted, unless indicated otherwise.  
 
2.1. Bases of preparation of the financial statements 

 
These financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 were prepared in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 
 
These financial statements were prepared in accordance with the historic cost principle, 
modified by the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, and financial assets and liabilities 
(including derivative financial instruments) at fair value with changes in income or in 
shareholders’ equity.  
 
The policies of Gasco S.A. were used to draw up these financial statements. 
 
For the preparation of these financial statements, critical accounting estimates were used to 
quantify some assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Those areas involving a higher degree of 
judgement or complexity, or areas where the assumptions and estimates are significant for the 
financial statements, are outlined in Note Nº4. 
 
Minor reclassifications were undertaken for the year ended 31 December 2015 to make it easier 
to compare with the year ended 31 December 2016. These reclassifications do not modify the 
income or shareholders’ equity of the previous financial year. 
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2.2. New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted by the Group 
 

The following standards, interpretations and amendments are mandatory for the first time for 
the financial years beginning on 1 January 2016. 
 

 
2.2.1. Amendment to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits,” issued in September 2014. This amendment 

clarifies what depth of the corporate bond market of top credit quality is assessed based 
on the currency in which the obligation is denominated instead of the country where the 
obligation is. When there is no deep market for these bonds in that currency, the bonds 
issued by the government in the same currency and maturity shall be used.  

 
2.2.2. Amendment to IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment” and IAS 38 “Intangible Assets,” 

issued in May 2014. In its amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) clarified that the use of revenue-based methods to calculate the 
depreciation of an asset is not suitable because the revenue generated by an activity that 
includes the use of an asset generally reflects factors other than the use of the economic 
benefits incorporated in the asset. The IASB also clarified that revenue generally has an 
unsuitable base to measure the use of the economic benefits incorporated in an 
intangible asset. Nevertheless, this assumption can be refuted in certain limited 
circumstances. 
 

2.2.3. Amendment to IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment” and IAS 41 “Agriculture,” issued 
in June 2014. These amendments establish that the accounting treatment of fruit plants 
must be the same as for property, plant and equipment, since their operations are similar 
to manufacturing operations.  
  

2.2.4. Amendment to IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements,” issued in May 2014. This amendment 
applies to the purchase of an interest in a joint arrangement constituting a business. The 
amendment clarifies that the purchasers of these interests must apply all the accounting 
principles for the business combinations of IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” and other 
standards that are not at odds with the guidelines of IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements.”  

 
2.2.5. Amendment to IAS 27 “Separate Financial Statements,” issued in August 2014. This 

amendment re-establishes the option of using the equity accounting method for 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in the separate financial 
statements.  

 
2.2.6. Amendment to IFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations,” 

issued in September 2014. This amendment clarifies that if the entity reclassifies an asset 
(or group of assets for disposal) from held for sale directly to held for distribution to the 
owners, or from held for distribution to the owners directly to held for sale, then the 
change in the classification is considered the continuation of the original sale plan. The 
IASB clarified that in these cases the accounting requirements for changes in a sale plan 
shall not apply.  
 

2.2.7. Modification of IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures,” issued in September 2014. 
This modification clarifies that service contracts can constitute continued implication of 
an asset transferred for purposes of financial asset transfer disclosures. This will 
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generally be the case when the administrator has an interest in the future performance 
of the financial assets transferred as a result of such contract.  

 
2.2.8. Modification of IAS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting,” issued in September 2014. This 

modification clarifies that the required disclosures must either be in the interim financial 
statements or be identified with cross references between the interim financial 
statements and any other report containing it. 

 
2.2.9. Modification of IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements,” IFRS 12 “Disclosure of 

Interests in Other Entities” and IAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures,” 
issued in December 2014. These modifications make minor clarifications about the 
accounting requirements for investment entities.  

 
2.2.10. Modification of IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements,” issued in December 2014. 

These modifications address some concerns expressed about the presentation and 
disclosure requirements, and assure that entities can exercise judgement when they 
apply IAS 1.  

 

 
2.3. New standards, interpretations and amendments issued, not in force for the 2016 period, for 

which there has been no early adoption thereof 
 
2.3.1. IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments,” whose final version was issued in July 2014. It modifies 

the classification and measurement of financial assets and introduces a “more 
prospective” model of credit losses expected for impairment accounting and a 
substantially restated focus for hedge accounting. Entities shall also have the option of 
applying in advance the accounting of profits and losses for fair value changes related to 
the “own credit risk” for financial liabilities stated at fair value with changes in income, 
without applying the other requirements of IFRS 9. Its application is mandatory as of 1 
January 2018 and early adoption is permitted. 

 
2.3.2. IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” issued in May 2014, is a new standard 

that is applicable to all contracts with customers, except leasing, financial instruments 
and insurance contracts. This new standard aims to improve the inconsistencies and 
weaknesses of IAS 18 and provide a model that will facilitate the comparability of 
companies in different industries and regions. It provides a new model for recognising 
revenue and more detailed requirements for contracts with numerous elements. Its 
application is mandatory as of 1 January 2017 and early adoption is permitted. 

 
2.3.3. IFRS 16 “Leasing,” issued in May 2014, is a new standard that defines a leasing contract 

and specifies the accounting treatment of assets and liabilities arising from these 
contracts from the standpoint of the lessor and lessee. The new standard does not differ 
greatly from its preceding standard, IAS 17 Leasing, regarding tax treatment from the 
lessor’s standpoint. Nevertheless, for the lessee the new standard requires recognition 
of assets and liabilities for most leasing contracts. Its application is mandatory as of 1 
January 2019 and early adoption is permitted if it is undertaken with IFRS 15 “Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers.” 
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2.3.4. Modification of IAS 7 “Cash Flow Statement,” issued in January 2016. This requires an 
entity to disclose information so users of the financial statements can assess the changes 
in the obligations arising from financing activities, including changes from cash flows and 
changes that are not in cash. The modifications shall be mandatory for annual periods 
commencing as of 1 January 2017 and early adoption is permitted. 

 
2.3.5. Modification of IAS 12 “Income Tax,” issued in January 2016. This clarifies how to record 

deferred tax assets for debt instruments measured at fair value. The modifications shall 
be mandatory for annual periods commencing on 1 January 2017 and early adoption is 
permitted. 

 
2.3.6. Amendment to IAS 28 “Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures” and IFRS 10 

“Consolidated Financial Statements,” issued in September 2014. These amendments 
address an acknowledged inconsistency of the requirements of IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in the 
treatment of the sale or provision of goods between an investor and its associate or joint 
venture. It establishes the rule that when the transaction involves a business (both when 
it is in a subsidiary or not) the full profit or loss is recognised. It recognises partial profit 
or loss when the transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even when 
the assets are in a subsidiary. The mandatory application date for these modifications is 
to be defined since the IASB plans to conduct a thorough investigation that might result 
in the simplification of accounting for associates and joint ventures. Immediate adoption 
is permitted. 

 
The management of Gasmar S.A. deems that the adoption of the aforementioned 
standards, amendments and interpretations, and which could be applicable, shall have 
no major impact on the company’s financial statements in the financial year in which 
they are applied for the first time. 
 

   
2.4. Foreign currency transactions 
 

2.4.1. Functional and presentation currency 
 
The accounting items included in the financial statements of each of the company’s 
entities are valued using the currency of the main economic environment in which the 
entity operates (hereinafter referred to as the “functional currency”). Gasmar S.A.´s 
functional currency is the US dollar. The Chilean peso is the presentation currency of the 
company’s financial statements for consolidation with Gasco S.A. 
 

2.4.2. Transactions and balances 
 
Transactions in foreign currency (e.g., the Chilean peso) are converted to the functional 
currency using the exchange rates in force on the dates of the transactions. The profits 
and losses in foreign currency arising from the liquidation of these transactions and of 
conversion to the rates of exchange at the closing of the monetary assets and liabilities 
expressed in foreign currency are recognised in the income statement, except when they 
must be deferred in net shareholders’ equity through other comprehensive income, as 
in the case of cash flow and net investment hedging strategies. 
 



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements                                 Page 12                                         
 

Changes in the fair value of financial investments in debt securities expressed in foreign 
currency classified as available for sale are separated between exchange rate differences 
arising from modifications to the amortised cost of the security and other changes in 
their carrying value. Exchange rate differences are recognised in the income of the 
financial year in which they occur and other changes in the carrying value are recognised 
in net shareholders’ equity, and the latter are reflected pursuant to IAS 1 through the 
comprehensive income statement, recycling the accrued portion to income. 
 
Exchange rate differences of financial investments in equity instruments held at fair 
value with changes in income are presented as part of the profit or loss in the income of 
the financial year in which it occurs. Exchange rate differences of such instruments 
classified as financial assets available for sale are included in the net shareholders’ equity 
in the corresponding reserve, and are reflected pursuant to IAS 1 through the 
comprehensive income statement. 
 

2.4.3. Conversion Bases 
 
Assets and liabilities in foreign currency and those agreed in Unidades de Fomento (UF)1 
are shown at the following rates of exchange and closing values, respectively: 
 

Date  CL$/US$  CL$/EUR   CL$/UF 
       

31/12/2016  669.47   705.60   26,347.98  

31/12/2015  710.16   774.61   25,629.09  

 
CL$ : Chilean pesos 
US$ : US dollars 
UF : Unidades de Fomento 
 

2.5. Financial information by operative segments 
 
The information by segments is presented consistently with the internal reports provided to 
those managers in charge of making important operative decisions. Such managers are 
responsible for allocating resources and appraising the performance of the operative segments, 
which have been identified as: liquefied gas for which strategic decisions are made.  
 

2.6. Property, plant and equipment 
 

The company’s land and buildings are initially recognised at cost. Their subsequent measurement 
is made pursuant to IAS 16 using the method of periodic revaluation at fair value.  

   
The equipment, facilities and networks for the gas storage and transport business are initially 
recognised at their purchase cost and are then revalued using the method of periodic revaluation 
at fair value. 
 
The valuations are performed based on market value or at technically depreciated replenishment 
value, accordingly. The appreciation due to net revaluation of the corresponding deferred taxes 

                                                           
1 Chilean inflation-adjusted unit. 
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is credited to the reserve or surplus from the revaluation of the net shareholders’ equity, 
accounted for in the comprehensive income statement. 
 
The rest of the property, plant and equipment, either in its initial recognition or later assessment, 
is valued at cost less the corresponding depreciation and accrued impairment, should there be 
any. 
 
The subsequent costs (replacement of components, improvements, expansion, growth, etc.) are 
included in the initial asset’s value or are recognised as a separate asset, only when it is likely 
that the future economic benefits associated with the elements of the fixed asset shall flow to 
the company and the cost of the element may be determined reliably. The value of the replaced 
component is charged off in the accounting. The remaining repairs and maintenance are charged 
to income in the financial year in which they are incurred. 
 
The construction and works underway include the following concepts, accrued only during the 
construction period: 
 
- Financial expenses related to external financing that are directly attributable to the 

construction, even if it is of a specific or generic nature. Concerning generic financing, the 
activated financial expenses are obtained by applying the average weighted long-term 
financing cost to the average accumulated investment subject to activation and not 
financed specifically. 

- Directly related personnel and other expenses of an operative nature, attributable to the 
construction. 

 
The construction or works underway are transferred to operating assets once the testing period 
is complete, when they are available for use, and they start to depreciate as of that moment. 
 
The increase in the carrying values from revaluing assets valued using the periodic revaluation 
method is credited to other comprehensive income and reserves in the shareholders’ equity, in 
the reserves and/or revaluation surplus account. The reductions that revert previous increases 
of the same asset are charged through other comprehensive income to the reserve or 
revaluation surplus account in shareholders’ equity; all other decreases are charged to the 
income statement. Each year, the difference between depreciation based on the revalued 
carrying value of the asset charged to the income statement and depreciation based on its 
original cost is transferred from the revaluation reserve or surplus account to retained earnings 
(losses), net of deferred tax. 
 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to 
allocate its revalued costs or amounts to the residual values over their estimated technical lives.   
 
 

The residual value and life of assets are revised and adjusted, if necessary, at the closing of each 
balance sheet to have a remaining life in keeping with the value of such goods. 
 
When the value of an asset is higher than its estimated recoverable amount, its value is reduced 
immediately to its recoverable amount by conducting impairment tests. 

 
Losses and profits from property, plant and equipment sales are calculated comparing the 
income obtained with their carrying value and are included in the income statement. When 
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revalued assets are sold, the values included in the revaluation reserve or surplus are transferred 
to retained earnings (losses), net of deferred tax. 

2.7. Intangible assets   
 
Computer programmes 
 
The licences purchased for computer programmes are capitalised based on the cost incurred to 
purchase them and prepare them to use the specific programme. These costs are amortised over 
their estimated lives. 

 
The expenses related to the development or maintenance of computer programmes are 
recognised as an expense when they are incurred. The costs directly related to the production of 
unique and identifiable computer programmes controlled by the company, and that it is likely 
might generate economic benefits exceeding their cost for more than one year, are recognised 
as intangible assets. Direct costs include the expenses of the personnel who develop computer 
programmes. 

 
The production costs of computer programmes recognised as assets are amortised over their 
estimated lives. 

 

2.8. Joint arrangements 
 
The participation in joint arrangements is recognised as outlined in IFRS 11, paragraph 24, using 
the equity method set out in IAS 28, paragraph 10. 
 
2.8.1. Joint control entities 

 
 

 

2.9. Losses due to impairment of the value of non-financial assets 
  

Assets with an indefinite life are not subject to amortisation, and each year are tested for value 
impairment losses. Assets subject to depreciation or amortisation are tested for loss impairment, 
provided that some event or change in circumstances indicates that the carrying value might not 
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised by the carrying value of the asset in excess of 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the fair value of an asset less the sale cost or 
use value, whichever is higher. To assess value impairment losses, assets are grouped at the 
lowest level for which there are identifiable cash flows separately (cash generating units). Non-
financial assets, other than goodwill, which might have had an impairment loss, are reviewed on 
each date of the balance sheet, in case there might have been loss reversions.  

 
2.10. Financial assets 
 

Tax Code Nº   Company name  
 

Country  
Company address  

 
Functional 
currency  

Joint control 
company of  

Percentage interest in 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Gasmar S.A. Gasmar S.A. 

        

 76.349.706-2   Hualpén Gas S.A.  Chile  Av. Apoquindo 3200 piso 11 Las Condes   US$   Gasmar S.A.  50.00000% 50.00000% 



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements                                 Page 15                                         
 

The company classifies its financial assets into the following categories: at fair value with changes 
in income, borrowings and accounts receivable, financial assets held until their maturity. The 
classification depends on the purpose for which such financial assets were acquired. 
Management determines the classification of its financial assets at the time of initial recognition. 
 
2.10.1. Financial assets at fair value with changes in income 
 
Financial assets at fair value with changes in income are financial assets held for negotiation. A 
financial asset is classified in this category if it is mainly acquired with the aim of being sold in the 
short term. Derivatives are also classified as acquired for negotiation unless they are designated 
as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets. 
 
Investments in marketable securities are initially stated at cost and subsequently their value is 
updated based on their market value (fair value). 
 
Investments in shares are accounted for at fair value, and the income obtained is stated in other 
revenue (income). 

 
2.10.2. Borrowings and accounts receivable 
 
Borrowings and accounts receivable are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current 
assets, except for those with maturity of over 12 months from the date of the balance sheet, 
which are classified as non-current assets. Borrowings and accounts receivable include trade 
receivables, and other accounts receivable on the balance sheet. 
 
2.10.3. Financial assets held to maturity 

 
Financial assets held to maturity are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payment and a fixed due date, that the company management has the positive intention and 
ability of keeping until their maturity. If the company sells an insignificant amount of the financial 
assets kept until their maturity, the whole category would be reclassified as available for sale. 
These financial assets are included in non-current assets, except those with maturity of less than 
12 months as from the date of the balance sheet, which are classified as current assets. 
 

2.11. Derivative financial instruments and hedging 
 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date when the derivative contract has 
been executed and they are subsequently revalued at their fair value. The method to recognise 
the resulting loss or profit depends whether the derivative has been designated as a hedge 
instrument and, if that is the case, the nature of the accounting item it is hedging. The company 
designates certain derivatives as:  

 
- fair value hedges of recognised liabilities (fair value hedge);  

 
- hedges of a specific risk associated with a recognised liability or a highly probable 

foreseen transaction (cash flow hedge). 
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The company documents at the start of a transaction the relationship between the hedge 
instruments and the hedged accounting items, as well as its objectives for the management of 
risk and the strategy to handle several hedge transactions. The company also documents their 
appraisal, both at the start as well as on a continuous basis, of whether the derivatives used in 
hedge transactions are highly effective to offset changes in the fair value, or in the cash flows of 
the hedged accounting items. 

 
The total fair value of hedge derivatives is classified as a non-current asset or liability if the 
remaining maturity of the hedged accounting item is over 12 months, and as a current asset or 
liability if the remaining maturity of the hedged accounting item is less than 12 months.  
 
Negotiable derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability. 

 
Hedge accounting is recorded pursuant to what is laid down in IAS 39. 
 
2.11.1. Fair value hedging  
 
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedging are 
stated in the income statement, together with any change in the fair value of the asset or liability 
hedged attributable to the risk hedged.  
 
The profit or loss related to the effective portion of interest swaps hedging borrowings at fixed 
interest rates is recognised in the income statement as “financial expenses.” The profit or loss 
related to the ineffective portion is also recognised in the income statement. Changes in the fair 
value of borrowings at a fixed interest rate and hedged attributable to the interest rate risk are 
recognised in the income statement as “financial expenses.” 

 
If the hedge fails to meet the criteria to be recognised through hedge accounting, the adjustment 
in the carrying value of the hedged accounting item, for which the effective interest rate method 
is used, is amortised in income in the remaining period until maturity. 
 
2.11.2. Cash flow hedging  
 
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify 
as cash flow hedges is recognised in shareholders’ equity through the other comprehensive 
income statement. The profit or loss of the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the 
income statement. 

 
The amounts accrued in net shareholders’ equity are recycled to the income statement in the 
periods in which the hedged item affects income (for example, when the hedged forecasted sale 
takes place or the hedged flow is carried out). Nevertheless, when the foreseen hedged 
transaction results in the recognition of a non-financial asset (for example, inventories or fixed 
assets), the profits or losses previously recognised in shareholders’ equity are transferred from 
equity and are included as part of the initial cost of the asset. The deferred amounts are finally 
recognised in the cost of the products sold, in the case of inventories, or in depreciation for fixed 
assets. 

 
When a hedge instrument expires or is sold, or when it no longer meets the criteria to be 
recognised through hedge accounting, any retained earnings or loss in shareholders’ equity as of 
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that date remains in equity and is recognised when the forecasted transaction affects the income 
statement. When it is expected that the forecasted transaction shall not take place, the earnings 
or loss retained in equity are immediately transferred to the income statement. 

 
2.12. Inventories 

 
Inventories are valued at cost or at their net realisable value, whichever is lower. The cost is 
determined by the first in, first out (FIFO) costing method.  
 
The net realisable value is the estimated sale price of an asset during the normal course of the 
operation, less the estimated costs to end its production and those necessary to make sales. 
 

2.13. Trade receivables and other accounts receivable 
 

Trade receivables are recognised at their nominal value, since average maturity terms do not 
exceed 20 days and arrears with such timescales generate loan interest. 
 
A provision is made for impairment losses of trade receivables when there is objective evidence 
that the company will not be able to collect all the amounts due in the original terms of the 
accounts receivable. Some indicators of the possible impairment of accounts receivable are the 
financial difficulties of the debtor, the likelihood of the debtor starting a bankruptcy process or 
financial reorganisation, and default or non-payment. 
 
The amount of the provision is the difference between the carrying value of the asset and the 
current value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The 
carrying value of the asset is reduced by means of the provision account and the amount of the 
loss is recognised with a charge to the income statement. When an account receivable is deemed 
uncollectible, it is written off against the respective provision for uncollectible accounts. The 
subsequent recovery of previously written-off amounts is recognised with credit to the account 
in the income statement. 

 
2.14. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, time deposits in credit entities, other high 
liquidity short-term investments with an original maturity of three months or less and an 
immaterial risk of a change in their value, and bank overdrafts. Overdrafts, should there be any, 
are classified on the balance sheet as other financial liabilities in current liabilities. 
 

2.15. Share capital 
 
The share capital is represented by common stock of a single class and one vote per share.  
 
The incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are stated in net 
shareholders’ equity as a deduction, net of tax, of the revenues obtained. 

 
2.16. Trade payables and other accounts payable 
 

Trade payables and other current accounts payable are recognised at their nominal value, since 
their average payment term is reduced and there is no material difference with their fair value.  
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2.17. Borrowings and other financial liabilities 
 

Borrowings and similar financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value, net of the 
costs incurred in the transaction. Subsequently, they are valued at their amortised cost and any 
difference between the proceeds obtained (net of the costs needed to secure them) and the 
reimbursement value is recognised in the income statement over the life of the debt, in 
accordance with the effective interest rate method.  
 
Financial obligations are classified as current liabilities unless the company has an unconditional 
right to defer their liquidation over at least 12 months after the date of the balance sheet. 
 

2.18. Income tax and deferred tax 
 

The income tax expense for the year comprises current income tax and deferred tax. The tax is 
recognised in the income statement, except when there are accounting items that are recognised 
directly in shareholders’ equity, in other comprehensive income or from a business combination. 
 
The charge for current income tax is calculated based on tax laws in force as of the date of the 
balance sheet.  
 
Deferred tax is calculated according to the liabilities method based on the differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values in the financial 
statements. Nevertheless, if deferred tax arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability 
in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction does not 
affect the accounting income or the tax profit or loss, it is not accounted for. Deferred tax is 
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been approved or are about to be approved on 
the date of the balance sheet and are expected to be applied when the corresponding deferred 
tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised when it is likely that there will be future tax benefits against 
which such differences may be offset. 
 
Deferred income tax is provisioned for the temporary differences arising from investments in 
subsidiaries and associates, except when the company controls the time when temporary 
differences will be reverted and it is likely that the temporary difference will not be reverted at 
a foreseeable time in the future. 

 
2.19. Employee benefits 
 

2.19.1. Employee holidays 

 
The company recognises the employee holiday expense by means of the accrual method. This 
benefit is for all employees and is equivalent to a fixed amount according to the individual 
contract of each employee. This benefit is stated at its nominal value.  

 
2.19.2. Severance payment 
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The company constitutes liabilities for severance payment obligations based on what is set forth 
in the collective and individual contracts of its personnel. If this benefit is agreed on, the 
obligation is treated pursuant to IAS 19, in the same way as the defined benefit plans, and is 
recorded by means of the forecasted credit unit method. The remaining severance benefits are 
treated according to the paragraph below. 
 
The defined benefit plans establish the amount of compensation an employee will receive at the 
estimated time of benefit entitlement, which usually depends on one or more factors, such as 
the age of the employee, employee turnover, years of service and compensation. 
 
The liability recognised on the balance sheet is the current value of the obligation of the defined 
benefit, plus/less adjustments for actuarial profits or losses and costs for past services. The 
current value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting estimated cash 
outflows using the market performance bonds expressed in the same currency in which the 
benefits will be paid and that have terms that are similar to the severance obligation terms until 
their maturity. 
 
The cost of past services is immediately recognised in income. The actuarial profits and losses 
are recognised instantly on the balance sheet, with a charge or credit to other comprehensive 
income in the periods in which they occur. They are not subsequently recycled. 
 

2.20. Classification of balances as current and non-current 
 

The balance sheet balances are classified according to their maturity or estimated realisation 
term as current for those with maturity of or lower than 12 months as of the cut-off date of the 
financial statements, and as non-current for those exceeding that period. 
 
Should there be obligations whose maturity is less than 12 months but whose long-term 
refinancing is assured, they are reclassified as non-current.  
 

2.21. Revenue recognition 
 
Current revenue includes the fair value of the consideration received or to be received for the 
sale of goods and services during the company’s ordinary course of activities. Current revenue is 
stated net of sales tax, refunds, rebates and discounts.  
 
The company recognises revenue when its amount can be reliably valued, it is likely that the 
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and the loss or obsolescence risks have been 
transferred to the customer. It is not deemed possible to reliably value the revenue amount until 
all sale-related contingencies have been resolved.  

 
2.22. Dividend distribution 
 

The dividends to be paid to company shareholders are recognised as a liability in the financial 
statements in the period when they are declared and approved or when the corresponding 
obligation arises based on the legal provisions in force or the distribution policies established by 
the Shareholders’ Meeting. 
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3. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY 
 

3.1. Market risk 
 

3.1.1. Raw materials 
 

3.1.1.1. Liquefied gas 

Demand and concentration of operations 
 

Since it is a staple good, demand for liquefied gas is stable over time and is not greatly affected 
by economic cycles. However, factors like the temperature and the price of liquefied gas 
compared to other fuel alternatives could eventually affect demand. 

 
The liquefied gas imports and storage business of Gasmar operates by means of liquefied gas 
sales contracts with the main distributors in Chile, which allows for a stable revenue flow for the 
company and for distributor company margins. 
 
Supply 

One of the risk factors in the liquefied gas marketing business is the supply of its raw material. 
Gasmar is the main liquefied gas supplier of Gasco GLP, a subsidiary of Gasco S.A., and has the 
capacity to minimise this risk by importing this fuel from different countries in the world like: the 
USA, Argentina, Saudi Arabia, England, Norway, and Qatar, among others.  

 
Gasmar also operates in a market that is exposed to commercial risks due to the time lag between 
the purchase and sale of propane gas. The company buys in the international market 15 to 70 
days prior to the sale of the product, which creates a risk due to the variations that might exist 
during that period with the Mont Belvieu international reference price, CIF ARA and the exchange 
rate. To reduce this risk exposure, the company has implemented a hedging programme by 
means of the purchase of exchange rate insurance and propane swaps. 
 

3.2. Financial risk 
 

3.2.1. Cash risk 
 

In this context, the financial debt of Gasmar for the year ended 31 December 2016 was 
structured as 57% as a non-current liability (long-term) and 43% as a current liability (short-term), 
mainly by means of bank borrowings.  
 
Gasmar also has credit lines available for short-term operations with various national banks. 

 
The cash risk is managed by means of suitable administration of assets and liabilities, optimising 
the daily cash surplus and thereby ensuring compliance with the debt commitments at maturity. 
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The company continually makes cash flow forecasts and analyses the financial position to, if 
required, take out new financing or restructure current borrowings in terms which are in keeping 
with the flow generation capacity in the company’s various businesses. 
 
For the year ended 31 December 2016, financial debt had an average term of 3 years and an 
average interest rate of 2.08%. 
 

3.2.2. Interest rate risk 
 

GASMAR S.A. has low exposure to risk related to interest rate fluctuations. Although 43% of the 
financial debt is structured at a fixed rate and 57% at a floating rate, the company’s debt level is 
low in relation to its shareholders’ equity. 

 
The debt breakdown was as follows: 
 

Debt Composition 

 31-12-2016  31-12-2015 

        

 USD  %  USD  % 

         

 Fixed-rate debt   17,543,463  43%  10,889,079  29% 

 Floating-rate debt   23,680,659  57%  26,844,659  71% 

         

Total financial debt  41,224,122  100%  37,733,738  100% 

   
 

3.2.3. Exchange rate risk 
 

The functional currency used by Gasmar S.A. is the US dollar. Gasmar has an exchange rate 
hedging programme through the purchase of exchange insurance to hedge differences that arise 
between the purchase of the raw material expressed in US dollars and its subsequent sale to 
domestic distributors in Chilean pesos.  
 
Consequently, to maintain a balance between operating flows and those of financial liabilities, 
100% of the financial debt was in US dollars for the year ended 31 December 2016.  
 

Type of debt 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 
        

 USD  %  USD  % 
         

 Debt in CLP   0   0.00%  7,553,281  20.02% 

 Debt in foreign currency - f/c   41,224,122  100.00%  30,180,457  79.98% 
         

Total financial debt  41,224,122  100.00%  37,733,738  100.00% 

 

3.2.4. Market value analysis of the company’s debt 
 
As part of the risk assessment process, the company analysed the market value its banking 
liabilities would have for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015. The aim of such analysis 
is to get the present value of future cash flows of each current financial debt, using 
representative rates of the market conditions in accordance with the company’s risk and the 
remaining term of the debt.  
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Debt for the year ended 31 December 2016 
 

Financial liabilities at 
carrying value 

 
Financial liabilities at 

fair value 
 

Fair value 
versus carrying 

value 

 USD  USD  % 
       

 Banks   41,224,122  41,035,986  -0.46% 
       

 Total financial liabilities  41,224,122  41,035,986  -0.46% 

       

Debt for the year ended 31 December 2015 
 

Financial liabilities at 
carrying value 

 
Financial liabilities at 

fair value 
 

Fair value 
versus carrying 

value 

 USD  USD  % 
       

 Banks   37,733,738  37,655,942  -0.21% 
       

 Total financial liabilities  37,733,738  37,655,942  -0.21% 

 
3.2.5. Debt maturity analysis considering cash flows 

 
Gasmar S.A. records its debt in accordance with the effective interest rate method, mentioned 
in point 2.17. However, with financial institutions and the public, the cash flow committed, 
payment of the capital owed and interest are settled according to the nominal interest rate.  
 

The breakdown of debt for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, considering the cash 
flows committed with third parties, was as follows:  
   

Capital and interest with future cash 
flow forecast 

 Up to 1 year  
More than 1 year 
and up to 3 years 

 
More than 3 

years and up to 6 
years  

Total 

31/12/2016  USD  USD  USD  USD 
         

 Banks   17,639,336   11,742,736   14,328,846   43,710,918  
         

 Total   17,639,336   11,742,736   14,328,846   43,710,918  
         

 Percentage   40%  27.00%  33.00%  100% 

         

Capital and interest with future cash 
flow forecast 

 Up to 1 year  
More than 1 year 
and up to 3 years 

 
More than 3 

years and up to 6 
years  

Total 

31/12/2015  USD  USD  USD  USD 
         

 Banks   14,141,993   11,013,332   12,578,413   37,733,738  
         

 Total   14,141,993   11,013,332   12,578,413   37,733,738  
         

 Percentage  38%  29%  33%  100% 

 

4. ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS OR CRITICAL MANAGEMENT CRITERIA 
 

The estimates and criteria used are continuously appraised and are based on historic experience 
and other factors, including the expectation of future events occurring that are considered 
reasonable according to the circumstances. 
 
The company makes estimates and assumptions about the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will by definition very rarely be the same as the real results. The estimates and 
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assumptions that have a major risk of causing a material adjustment to the balances of assets 
and liabilities the following year are shown below. 
 

4.1. Fair value of derivatives 
 
Risk management policy for exchange rate differences.  
 
Exchange rate derivative accounting. 
 
Exchange rate derivatives are denominated as a cash flow hedge and are accounted for and 
measured as follows: 
 
Derivative contracts which on the closing date of the financial statements have not yet matured 
will be valued at their fair value and their income recognised in asset or liability accounts, 
accordingly, and in the equity account denominated cash flow hedge reserve. The fair value shall 
be determined by the offset from considering as the maturity exchange rate the forward value 
in force on the closing date, updated to its present value by the nominal 30-day TAB2 rate in force 
on that same date.  
 
To determine the forward value in force on the closing date, one-week and thirty-day forward 
points published by Reuters will be used, to which the observed dollar rate on the closing date 
will be added. 
 
Offsets related to exchange rate derivatives for accrued and paid sales will be recognised in the 
income statement, whereas those concerning sales not accrued or those accrued but pending 
payment will be recognised in asset or liability accounts, accordingly, and in the equity account 
through the Other Comprehensive Income Statement, cash flow hedge line. 
 
Risk management policy for propane prices 
 
Propane derivative accounting 
 
Propane derivatives are denominated as a cash flow hedge and are valued as follows: 
 
Derivative contracts which on the closing date of the financial statements have not yet matured 
will be valued at their fair value and their income recognised in asset or liability accounts, 
accordingly, and in the equity account Cash Flow Hedge Reserve. The fair value will be 
determined by the offset from considering the propane maturity price as the forward value in 
force on the closing date, updated to its present value by the 15-day, 30-day or 60-day LIBOR 
rate in force on that same date. 
  
The propane forward prices shall be the ones published by Bloomberg on the closing date for the 
following months.  
 
The offsets related to propane derivatives for accrued sales will be recognised in the income 
statement, whereas those for sales not accrued will be recognised in asset or liability accounts, 

                                                           
2 Average interbank rate published by the Association of Banks 
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accordingly, and in the equity account through the Other Comprehensive Income Statement, 
cash flow hedge line. 
 

4.2. Severance benefits agreed on and length of service bonuses 
 

The present value of the obligations for severance agreed on (“the benefits”) depends on a 
number of factors which are determined on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. 
 
The assumptions used when determining the net cost of benefits include the discount rate. Any 
change in these assumptions will have an impact on the carrying value of the benefit obligation. 
 
The company determines the discount rate at the end of each year it deems the most appropriate 
according to market conditions on the valuation date. This interest rate is the one that is used to 
determine the present value of estimated future cash flow outlays which are foreseen as 
required to be paid for benefit plan obligations. 
 

4.3. Property, plant and equipment valuations 
 

Gasmar revalued a significant portion of its property, plant and equipment as of 30 November 
2016. The methodology used critical assumptions linked to the interest rate, readjustment and 
indexing factors, and estimates of service lives, whose variation might generate significant 
modifications to the company’s financial statements. 
 

5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

The breakdown of this item for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 was as follows: 
 

Types of cash and cash equivalents 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 
     

Cash     
  

   

Cash on hand  1,793   707  

Bank balances   4,687,125   484,034  

     

Total cash  4,688,918   484,741  
  

   

Cash equivalents     
  

   

Short-term deposits classified as cash equivalents  4,500,063   0  

     

Total cash equivalents  4,500,063   0  
     

Total  9,188,981   484,741  

 
 
The breakdown of this item by type of currency for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 was as 
follows: 
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Information on cash and cash equivalents by currency 
 

Currency 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

  USD  USD 

       

Amount of cash and cash equivalents 

 CL$  561,040   243,069  

 US$  4,738,068   241,672  

 EUR  909   0  

 YEN  3,888,964   0  

       

Total      9,188,981   484,741  

 

6. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 
6.1. Financial assets at fair value with changes in income 

 

Other financial assets 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 
    

 Current  Current 

 USD  USD 

     

Financial assets at fair value with changes in income  141,723   27,725  

Hedging assets  0   8,885  
  

   

Total  141,723   36,610  

 
The breakdown of this item for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 was as follows: 
 

Type of financial assets at fair value with changes in income 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 
    

 Current  Current 

 USD  USD 

     

Financial assets at fair value with changes in income, equity instruments  141,723   27,725  
  

   

Total  141,723   27,725  

 
 

6.2. Hedging assets and liabilities 
 

 

Current and non-current hedging assets 
 Fair value 
    

 Current 
             

Company 
 Type of 

contract 

 Type of 
hedge 

 
Hedge risk 

 
Hedged item  

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

     USD  USD 
                    

Gasmar S.A.  Forward  Cash flow  
Liquefied gas price fluctuation 
exposure  

 
Gas 

inventories 
 

0   8,885  
                        

Total  0   8,885  
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Current and non-current hedging liabilities 
 Fair value 
    

 Current 
             

Company 
 Type of 

contract 

 Type of 
hedge 

 
Hedge risk 

 Hedged 
item  

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

     USD  USD 
                    

Gasmar S.A.  Forward  Cash flow  Exchange rate fluctuation exposure  Currency  48,798   0  

Gasmar S.A.  Swap  Cash flow  
Liquefied gas price fluctuation 
exposure  

 
Gas 

inventories 
 0   518,275  

                        

Total  48,798   518,275  

 
 

6.3. Fair value hierarchy 
 

The financial instruments accounted for at their fair value on the balance sheet for the years ended 31 
December 2016 and 2015 were measured based on the aforementioned methodology set forth in IAS 
39. Such methodologies, applied to each kind of financial instrument, are classified according to their 
hierarchy as follows:  

Level I: values or prices quoted in active markets for identical assets and liabilities. 

Level II: information ("input") from sources other than the values quoted in Level I, but observable in the 
market for assets and liabilities either directly (prices) or indirectly (obtained from prices). 

Level III: inputs for assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data. 

The tables below show the financial assets and liabilities that were measured at fair value for the years 
ended 31 December 2016 and 2015: 

Financial instruments at fair value with changes in income  
Fair value measured at the end of the reporting period 

using: 
         

Financial assets 

 31/12/2016  Level I  Level II  Level III 
           

 Current  USD  USD  USD 
         

Financial assets at fair value with changes in income   141,723   0   113,998   27,725  
         

Total   141,723   0   113,998   27,725  

         

Financial instruments at fair value with changes in income  
Fair value measured at the end of the reporting period 

using: 
         

Financial assets 

 31/12/2015  Level I  Level II  Level III 
           

 Current  USD  USD  USD 
         

Financial assets at fair value with changes in income   27,725   0   0   27,725  
         

Total   27,725   0   0   27,725  
 

 (*) The value of minor investments classified as financial assets at fair value with changes in income and which do not have a 
quoted market price in an active market was calculated based on the purchase cost due to the low amount they account for. 
 

  



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements                                 Page 27                                         
 

 

Fair value hierarchy (continued) 

 

Financial instruments measured at fair value  
Fair value measured at the end of the reporting period 

using: 
         

Financial assets 

 31/12/2015  Level I  Level II  Level III 
           

 Current  USD  USD  USD 
         

 Cash flow hedging derivatives   8,885   0   8,885   0  
         

Total   8,885   0   8,885   0  

 
 

Financial instruments measured at fair value  
Fair value measured at the end of the reporting 

period using: 
         

Financial liabilities 

 31/12/2016  Level I  Level II  Level III 

           

 Current  USD  USD  USD 

         

 Cash flow hedging derivatives   48,798    0  48,798    0 
         

Total   48,798   0   48,798   0  

 
         

Financial instruments measured at fair value  
Fair value measured at the end of the reporting 

period using: 
         

Financial liabilities 

 31/12/2015  Level I  Level II  Level III 

           

 Current  USD  USD  USD 
         

 Cash flow hedging derivatives   518,275   0   518,275   0  
         

Total   518,275   0   518,275   0  
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7. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 

The breakdown of this item for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 was as follows: 
 
 

Types of trade receivables and other accounts receivable, net 

 
Current 

 
    

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 
     

 Trade receivables, net   196,571   199,420  

 Other accounts receivable, net    4,686,522   4,657,733  
     

Total   4,883,093   4,857,153  

 

Other accounts receivable, net 

 
Current 

 
    

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 
     

 Amounts receivable from employees     

 Salary advances  153,405   0  

 Funding to be rendered   2,154   0  

     

 Subtotal    155,559   0  
     

Recoverable tax     

VAT fiscal credit  935,544   1,829,786  

     

 Subtotal    935,544   1,829,786  
     

Sundry receivables     

 Supplier advances  395   0  

 FOB sale accounts receivable   1,512,095  0  

 Other accounts receivable  10,991  0 

 Liquidation of financial instruments receivable   2,071,938   2,827,947  

     

 Subtotal    3,595,419   2,827,947  
     

Total   4,686,522   4,657,733  

 
 
 Portfolio structure 
 

Types of trade receivables and other accounts receivable, gross 

 
Current 

 
    

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 
     

 Trade receivables, gross   196,571   199,420  

 Other accounts receivable, gross    4,686,522   4,657,733  
     

Total   4,883,093   4,857,153  
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Portfolio structure (continued)  

 
 

31/12/2016 

 

Portfolio  
up-to-date 

 

Total 
receivables 

 

Total  
current 

 

 
   

 
   

 USD  USD  USD  
        

 Trade receivables, gross   196,571   196,571   196,571   

 Other accounts receivable, gross    4,686,522   4,686,522   4,686,522   
        

Total   4,883,093   4,883,093   4,883,093   

        

31/12/2015 

 
Portfolio  

up-to-date 

 
Total 

receivables 

 
Total  

current 

 

    

    

 USD  USD  USD  
        

 Trade receivables, gross   199,420   199,420   199,420   

 Other accounts receivable, gross    4,657,733   4,657,733   4,657,733   
        

Total   4,857,153   4,857,153   4,857,153   

 
There was no impairment of trade receivables and accounts receivable. 
 
The accounts receivable maturity dates for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 were less 
than 30 days.  

 
 
 
8. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE FROM AND PAYABLE TO RELATED COMPANIES 
 

Transactions with related companies are paid/collected in 15 days and are not subject to any special 
conditions. These operations are in line with what is laid down in articles Nº44 and 49 of Law Nº18.046 
on limited companies. 
 
Short-term financing transfers from and to the parent company, which are not to charge for or pay 
services, are structured in the mercantile current account modality, and a floating interest rate is 
established for the monthly balance according to market conditions. 
 
The company has a policy of reporting all transactions undertaken with related parties in the year, with 
the exception of dividends paid and capital contributions received, which are not construed as 
transactions. 
 
For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, there were no guarantees given or received in such 
operations. 
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8.1. Balances and transactions with related companies 

 
8.1.1.  Accounts receivable from related companies 

 
 
The breakdown of this item for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 was as follows: 
 
 

 

Taxpayer 
Code 

 

Company 

 

Country of 
origin 

 

Transaction description  

 

Transaction term 

 

Nature of the 
relationship 

 

Currency 

 Current 

       
   

       31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

       USD  USD 
                 

91.806.000-6  Abastible S.A.  Chile  Liquefied gas sale  Up to 15 days  Shareholder  CL$  3,410,525   3,063,367  

96.568.740-8  Gasco GLP S.A.  Chile  Liquefied gas sale  Up to 15 days  
Common parent 

company 
 CL$  

1,940,375   2,052,625  

76.349.706-2  Hualpén Gas S.A.  Chile  Services rendered  Up to 15 days  Joint control business  CL$  45,832   43,274  

96.722.460-k  Metrogas S.A. (*)  Chile 
 

Services rendered 
 

Up to 30 days 
 

Common parent 
company  

CL$ 
 0   178,800  

                 

TOTAL                          5,396,732   5,338,066  

 
(*) Metrogas S.A. used to be part of the same business group until the liquefied gas and natural gas businesses were split by the company’s parent company, Gasco S.A. Such operation was completed in 2016. 
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8.1.2.   Accounts payable to related companies 

 
 
 

The breakdown of this item for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 was as follows: 
 

 
 

Taxpayer Code 

 

Company 

 

Country of 
origin 

 

Transaction description  

 

Transaction 
term 

 

Nature of the 
relationship 

 

Currency 

 Current 
          

       31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

       USD  USD 
                 

81.095.400-0  Sociedad Nacional de Oleoductos S.A  Chile  Overland freight service  Up to 30 days  Indirect  CL$  330,621   176,594  

90.310.000-1  Gasco S.A.  Chile  Expense reimbursement  Up to 30 days  Parent company  CL$  1,964   452,341  

76.349.706-2  Hualpén Gas S.A.  Chile  Services received  Up to 30 days  Subsidiary  CL$  37,443   0  

99.520.000-7  Compañía de Petróleos de Chile Copec S.A.  Chile  Services received  Up to 30 days  Indirect  CL$  1,046   0  
                 

TOTAL                          371,074   628,935  
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8.1.3.   Transactions with related companies and their effects on income 
 
 

The operations and their effects on income for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 are shown below: 
 

Taxpayer Code Company 
Country of 

origin 
Nature of the 
relationship 

Transaction description  Currency 

01/01/2016 01/01/2015 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Operation 
Effect on income 
(charge) / credit 

Operation 
Effect on income 
(charge) / credit 

USD USD USD USD 

          

81.095.400-0 Sociedad Nacional de Oleoductos S.A. Chile Indirect Other services CL$ 2,202  2,202  0  0  

96.568.740-8 Gasco GLP S.A Chile 
Common parent 

company 
Liquefied gas sale  CL$ 101,774,145  101,774,145  102,614,275  102,614,275  

91.806.000-6 Abastible S.A. Chile Shareholder Liquefied gas sale  CL$ 137,107,873  137,107,873  153,392,194  153,392,194  

76.349.706-2 Hualpén Gas S.A. Chile Joint control business Services rendered CL$ 339,222  339,222  393,454  393,454  

96.568.740-8 Gasco GLP S.A Chile 
Common parent 

company 
Services received CL$ 98,854  (98,854) 66,500  (66,500) 

81.095.400-0 Sociedad Nacional de Oleoductos S.A. Chile Indirect Overland freight service CL$ 6,582,044  (6,582,044) 6,548,721  (6,548,721) 

99.520.000-7 Compañía de Petróleos de Chile COPEC S.A. Chile Indirect Services received CL$ 36,331  (36,331) 41,267  (41,267) 

76.349.706-2 Hualpén Gas S.A. Chile Joint control business Services received CL$ 5,036,593  (5,036,593) 6,593,980  (6,593,980) 

90.310.000-1 Gasco S.A. Chile Shareholder Expense reimbursement CL$ 18,857  (18,857) 0  0  

79.874.200-0 Vía Limpia S.P.A. Chile Indirect Services received CL$ 18,532  (18,532) 0  0  

91.806.000-6 Abastible S.A. Chile Shareholder Services received CL$ 0  0  10,464  (10,464) 

          

TOTAL 251,014,653  227,432,231  269,660,855  243,138,991  
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8.2. Company Board of Directors and Management 

 
The Board of Directors of Gasmar S.A. comprises five directors, who remain in office for a 3-year 
period and they may be re-elected.  
 
The management team of Gasmar S.A. is made up of a CEO, CFO, CCO and COO.  
 

8.2.1.    Board remuneration 
 
Pursuant to what is laid down in article Nº33 of Law Nº18.046 on limited companies, an Ordinary 
Shareholders’ Meeting, held on 24 June 2016, established the following amounts for 2016: 

 
Board meeting attendance fees  

 
Each director shall be paid 25 Unidades de Fomento for attending board meetings. The Chairman 
shall receive the equivalent of double a director’s fee. 

 
Directors have no share of the company’s profits. 

 

Name  

 

 Position  

 01/01/2016  01/01/2015 

  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 
     

   Board    Board  

   fees    fees  

       USD    USD  

       

 Ricardo Cruzat     Chairman   16,210   13,854  

 Carmen Figueroa      Former director    3,114   6,332  

 Mauricio Balbontin     Former director    3,287   5,764  

 Eduardo Navarro      Former director    2,106   6,380  

 Jorge Ferrando      Former director    2,619   6,926  

 Enrique Ide     Former director    0   2,370  

 Michael Schröder      Former director    0   2,389  

 Enrique Zenteno     Director    5,992   0  

 Pablo Garzón     Former director    532   0  

 Hernán Errázuriz     Director    3,406   0  

 Patricio Silva     Director    3,406   0  

 Erwin Kaufmann     Director    5,992   0  
       

 Total       46,664   44,015  
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8.2.2.    Key management salaries 

 
 

The salaries paid to key management for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 were as 
follows:  

 

Salaries paid to key management 

 
01/01/2016  01/01/2015 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 

     

 Salary   1,180,314   873,349  

 Short-term employee benefits   186,000   549,272  
     

 Total   1,366,314   1,422,621  
 

 

9. INVENTORIES 
 
 

The breakdown of this item for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 was as follows: 
 

Types of inventories 

 Current 
    

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 

     

 Raw materials   30,671,218   35,641,588  

 Maintenance supplies   721,159   666,716  
     

Total  31,392,377   36,308,304  
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10. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  
 

The breakdown of this item for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 was as follows: 
 
 

Tax assets and liabilities 

 Current 
    

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 

     

Tax assets     

     

 Provisional monthly payments   8,872,389   5,342,172  

 Tax credits   584,427   1,127,672  
     

Tax asset subtotal  9,456,816   6,469,844  
     

Tax liabilities     

     

 First bracket income tax  (6,070,727)  (7,025,017) 
     

Tax liability subtotal  (6,070,727)  (7,025,017) 
     

Total tax assets (liabilities)  3,386,089   (555,173) 

 
 

11. OTHER NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 

 The breakdown of this item for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 was as follows: 

 

Other non-financial assets 

 Current  Non-current 
        

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD  USD  USD 
         

 Prepaid expenses   222,768   61,787    0   0  

 Leasing guarantees   0   0    8,598   8,598  

 Performance bonds   0   0    48,234     
         

Total  222,768   61,787   56,832   8,598  
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12. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 
 

The breakdown and transactions of this item for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 were as 

follows: 

Investments accounted for using the equity 
method 

 Balance at  
Profit (loss) 

sharing 
 

Dividends 
received 

 
Conversion 
difference 

 Balance at 

 01/01/2016           31/12/2016 

 USD  USD  USD  USD  USD 
           

 Investments in joint control companies    1,389,081   504,449   (433,601)  0   1,459,929  
           

Total  1,389,081   504,449   (433,601)  0   1,459,929  

           

           

Investments accounted for using the equity 
method 

 Balance at  
Profit (loss) 

sharing 
 

Dividends 
received 

 
Conversion 
difference 

 Balance at 

 01/01/2015           31/12/2015 

 USD  USD  USD  USD  USD 
           

 Investments in joint control companies    1,250,015    458,601    (250,000)   (69,535)   1,389,081  
           

Total  1,250,015   458,601   (250,000)  (69,535)  1,389,081  

 

Investment transactions in 
joint control companies using 

the equity method 

 
Country 

of 
origin 

 
Functional 
currency 

 
Percentage 

interest 
 

Voting 
power 

percentage 
 Balance at  

Profit (loss) 
sharing 

 
Dividends 
received 

 
Conversion 
difference 

 Balance at 

             01/01/2016           31/12/2016 

             USD  USD  USD  USD  USD 
                   

Hualpén Gas S.A.  Chile   US$   50.00000%  50.00000%  1,389,081   504,449   (433,601)  0   1,459,929  
                   

Total                  1,389,081   504,449   (433,601)  0   1,459,929  

                   
                   

Investment transactions in 
joint control companies using 

the equity method 

 
Country 

of 
origin 

 
Functional 
currency 

 
Percentage 

interest 
 

Voting 
power 

percentage 
 Balance at  

Profit (loss) 
sharing 

 
Dividends 
received 

 
Conversion 
difference 

 Balance at 

             01/01/2015           31/12/2015 

             USD  USD  USD  USD  USD 
                   

Hualpén Gas S.A.  Chile   US$  50.00000%  50.00000%  1,250,015   458,601   (250,000)  (69,535)  1,389,081  
                   

Total                  1,250,015   458,601   (250,000)  (69,535)  1,389,081  
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Summarised information of joint control companies for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015: 

 

Investments in joint control 
companies 

 

Percentage 
interest 

 31/12/2016 

                       

  
Current 
assets 

 
Non-

current 
assets 

 Total assets  
Current 

liabilities 
 

Total 
liabilities 

 Equity  
Current 
revenue 

 

Others 

 

Profit (loss) 
from 

continued 
operations  

Profit 
(loss) 

 

Comprehensive 
income 

  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD 
                         

 Hualpén Gas S.A.   50.00000%  2,423,069   1,378,694   3,801,763   881,905   881,905   2,919,858   6,554,174   (5,545,277)  1,008,897   1,008,897   1,008,897  
                         

Total      2,423,069   1,378,694   3,801,763   881,905   881,905   2,919,858   6,554,174   (5,545,277)  1,008,897   1,008,897   1,008,897  

                         

                         

                         

Investments in joint control 
companies 

 

Percentage 
interest 

 31/12/2015 

                       

  
Current 
assets 

 
Non-

current 
assets 

 Total assets  
Current 

liabilities 
 

Total 
liabilities 

 Equity  
Current 
revenue 

 

Others 

 

Profit (loss) 
from 

continued 
operations  

Profit 
(loss) 

 

Comprehensive 
income 

  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD 
                         

 Hualpén Gas S.A.   50.00000%  1,997,021   1,455,181   3,452,202   674,040  674,040  2,778,162  7,971,973   (7,054,771)  917,202   917,202   917,202  
                         

Total      1,997,021   1,455,181   3,452,202   674,040  674,040  2,778,162  7,971,973   (7,054,771)  917,202   917,202   917,202  
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Summarised information on joint control companies for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 
(continued): 
 

Other information on investments in 
joint control companies 

 31/12/2016 
          

 
Cash and cash 

equivalents 
 

Depreciation and 
amortisation 

expense 
 

Current 
revenue from 

interest 
 

Interest 
expense 

 

Continued 
operation 

income tax 
expense 

 USD  USD  USD  USD  USD 
           

 Hualpén Gas S.A.   1,476,962   (93,783)  5,654   (1,641)  (288,949) 
           

Total  1,476,962   (93,783)  5,654   (1,641)  (288,949) 

           

           

Other information on investments in 
joint control companies 

 31/12/2015 
          

 
Cash and cash 

equivalents 
 

Depreciation and 
amortisation 

expense 
 

Current 
revenue from 

interest 
 

Interest 
expense 

 

Continued 
operation 

income tax 
expense 

 USD  USD  USD  USD  USD 
           

 Hualpén Gas S.A.   830,261   (78,255)  465   (249)  (228,868) 
           

Total  830,261   (78,255)  465   (249)  (228,868) 

 
13.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS OTHER THAN GOODWILL 
 

13.1. Breakdown and transactions of intangible assets 
              

The breakdown of this item for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 was as follows: 
 

Intangible assets 

 31/12/2016 
      

 Gross values  
Accrued 

amortisation  
Net values 

 USD  USD  USD 
       

Computer programmes  169,582   (168,016)  1,566  
       

Total  169,582   (168,016)  1,566  

       
       

Intangible assets 

 31/12/2015 

      

 Gross values  
Accrued 

amortisation  
Net values 

 USD  USD  USD 
       

Computer programmes  169,582   (164,192)  5,390  
       

Total  169,582   (164,192)  5,390  

       

       

Accrued amortisation and value impairment of intangible assets 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 
       

 Intangible assets with a finite life       168,016   164,192  
       

Total      168,016   164,192  
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The following are the lives of intangible assets: 
 

Estimated lives or amortisation rates used   Life / rate   Minimum   Maximum 
          

 Computer programmes  Life    1    5 

 

The intangible asset transactions for the year ended 31 December 2016 were as follows: 

 

Intangible asset transactions 

  31/12/2016 
        

  
Computer 

programmes, net 
  

Identifiable 
intangible 
assets, net 

  USD   USD 
       

Initial balance at 1 January 2016   5,390    5,390  
       

 Amortisation    (3,824)   (3,824) 
     

 Changes, total    (3,824)   (3,824) 
       

Final balance at 31 December 2016   1,566    1,566  

 
 

The intangible asset transactions for the year ended 31 December 2015 were as follows: 
 

Intangible asset transactions 

  31/12/2015 
        

  
Computer 

programmes, net 
  

Identifiable 
intangible 
assets, net 

  USD   USD 
       

Initial balance at 1 January 2015   9,959    9,959  
       

 Amortisation    (4,569)   (4,569) 
     

 Changes, total    (4,569)   (4,569) 
       

Final balance at 31 December 2015   5,390    5,390  
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

14.1. Life 
 

Life for the depreciation of property, plant and equipment 

 Life 

    

 Minimum  Maximum 

     

 Life of buildings   60   80  

 Life of plant and equipment   20   40  

 Life of information technology equipment   5   5  

 Life of fixed facilities and accessories   17   67  

 Life of motor vehicles   7   7  

 Life of other property, plant and equipment    5   10  

 
14.2. Breakdown of items 

 

Types of property, plant and equipment, net 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 
     

Construction underway  678,886   380,477  

Land  7,706,652   8,195,719  

Buildings  1,331,856   871,364  

Plant and equipment  79,030,939   81,941,609  

Information technology equipment  87,493   38,597  

Fixed facilities and accessories  2,200,114   2,871,803  

Motor vehicles  94,456   118,644  

Spare parts  10,870   22,728  
     

Total  91,141,266   94,440,941  

 

Types of property, plant and equipment, gross 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 
     

Construction underway  678,886   380,477  

Land  7,706,652   8,195,719  

Buildings  1,945,647   1,478,041  

Plant and equipment  104,872,672   104,841,081  

Information technology equipment  266,892   194,907  

Fixed facilities and accessories  12,460,245   13,096,036  

Motor vehicles  406,715   388,400  

Spare parts  394,278   394,277  
     

Total  128,731,987   128,968,938  

  

Accrued depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 

     

Buildings  613,791   606,677  

Plant and equipment  25,841,733   22,899,472  

Information technology equipment  179,399   156,310  

Fixed facilities and accessories  10,260,131   10,224,233  

Motor vehicles  312,259   269,756  

Spare parts  383,408   371,549  
     

Total  37,590,721   34,527,997  

 

 



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements                                 Page 41                                         
 

 
14.3.  Reconciliation of changes in property, plant and equipment 

 
 

Breakdown of transactions for the year ended 31 December 2016: 
 
 
 

 

Transactions in 2016 

 

Construction 
underway 

 

Land 

 

Buildings, 
net 

 

Plant and 
equipment, 

net 

 

Information 
technology 
equipment, 

net 

 

Fixed 
facilities and 
accessories, 

net 

 

Motor 
vehicles, 

net 

 

Spare 
parts 

 

Property, 
plant and 

equipment, 
net 

         

         

         

         

         

 USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD 
                     

Initial balance at 1 January 2016  380,477   8,195,719   871,364   81,941,609   38,597   2,871,803   118,644   22,728   94,440,941  
                     

C
h

an
ge

s 

Additions  298,409   0   0   31,588   71,985   0   18,316   0   420,298  

Depreciation expenses and withdrawals         (51,381)  (2,942,258)  (23,089)  (77,796)  (42,504)  (11,858)  (3,148,886) 

In
cr

ea
se

 

Increase (decrease) due to revaluation recognised in net 
equity 

 
   (489,067)  (82,020)  0   0   0   0   0   (571,087) 

Subtotal recognised in net equity     (489,067)  (82,020)  0   0   0   0   0   (571,087) 

Other increases (decreases)  0  0   593,893   0   0  (593,893)  0  0  0  

Total changes  298,409   (489,067)  460,492   (2,910,670)  48,896   (671,689)  (24,188)  (11,858)  (3,299,675) 

 

                    

Final balance for the year ended December 2016  678,886   7,706,652   1,331,856   79,030,939   87,493   2,200,114   94,456   10,870   91,141,266  
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Breakdown of transactions for the year ended 31 December 2015: 
 
 
 
 

Transactions in 2015 

 

Construction 
underway 

 

Land 

 

Buildings, 
net 

 

Plant and 
equipment, 

net 

 

Information 
technology 
equipment, 

net 

 

Fixed 
facilities and 
accessories, 

net 

 

Motor 
vehicles, 

net 

 

Spare 
parts 

 

Property, 
plant and 

equipment, 
net 

         

         

         

         

         

 USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD 
                     

Initial balance at 1 January 2015  1,045,018   8,195,719   914,858   83,770,214   50,780   2,415,226   157,119   40,197   96,589,131  
                     

C
h

an
ge

s 

Additions  754,032   0   0   423,017   6,768   0   0      1,183,817  

Divestitures  0   0   0   (11,745)  0   0   0      (11,745) 

Depreciation expenses and withdrawals      0  (43,494)  (3,121,647)  (18,951)  (80,226)  (38,475)  (17.469)  (3,320,262) 

Other increases (decreases)  (1,418,573)  0   0   881,770   0   536,803   0   0   0  

Total changes  (664,541)  0   (43,494)  (1,828,605)  (12,183)  456,577   (38,475)  (17.469)  (2,148,190) 

 

                    

Final balance for the year ended 31 December 2015  380,477   8,195,719   871,364   81,941,609   38,597   2,871,803   118,644   22,728   94,440,941  
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14.4. Property, plant and equipment investment policy 

 
GASMAR has traditionally maintained a policy of keeping facilities in good shape and adapting 
the system to the technological advances to comply with the quality regulations and supply 
continuity established by the current regulation for the gas sector, as well as with commercial 
contracts signed with customers. 
 
Land and the plant and equipment item were revalued on 30 November 2016. The valuation was 
undertaken based on the market value or on the technically depreciated replacement value, as 
appropriate. The loss due to the net revaluation of the corresponding deferred taxes was 
credited to the revaluation reserve in equity recorded in the other comprehensive income 
statement. 

 
 

14.5. Additional information on property, plant and equipment 
 

Additional information to be disclosed on property, plant and equipment 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 

     

Outlay amount of the property, plant and equipment under construction account   298,409   754,032  
 
 

14.6. Information to be considered for revalued assets 
 

Land, construction and buildings, as well as equipment, facilities and gas business networks are 
initially recognised at their acquisition cost, and they are subsequently revalued using the 
periodic revaluation at fair value method. This method entails an annual review of the variation 
of the fair values of goods. The property, plant and equipment valuations are performed 
whenever there are major variations of the variables affecting the determination of their fair 
values. Such frequent revaluations will be unnecessary for property, plant and equipment with 
insignificant variations of their fair value. Revaluations conducted every three or five years may 
suffice for them. 
 
 

Carrying value of property, plant and equipment revalued according to the cost 
model 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 

     

 Land   952,966   952,966  

 Buildings   1,302,059   841,567  

 Plant and equipment   59,464,212   60,101,976  

     

Total  61,719,237   61,896,509  
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Information to be considered for revalued assets (continued). 
 

Carrying value of property, plant and equipment revalued according to the cost model 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 
     

 Initial balance  29,112,183   31,175,860  
     

Revaluation adjustments   (571,087)  0  

Depreciation of the portion of the value of property, plant and equipment revalued   (2,190,886)  (2,063,677) 
     

 Transactions in the year  (2,761,973)  (2,063,677) 
     

Total  26,350,210   29,112,183  
 

Carrying value of property, plant and equipment not revalued according to the cost model 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 
     

 Construction underway   678,886   380,477  

 Information technology equipment   87,493   38,597  

 Fixed facilities and accessories   2,200,114   2,871,803  

 Motor vehicles   94,456   118,644  

 Spare parts   10,870   22,728  
     

Total  3,071,819   3,432,249  
 

 

  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 
             

Property, plant and equipment 
revaluation 

 
Property, plant 
and equipment, 
revalued assets 

 

Property, plant 
and equipment, 
revalued assets 

at cost  

Property, plant 
and equipment 

revaluation 
surplus  

Property, plant 
and equipment, 
revalued assets 

 

Property, plant 
and equipment, 
revalued assets 

at cost  

Property, plant 
and equipment 

revaluation 
surplus 

 USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD 
             

 Land   7,706,652   952,966   6,753,686   8,195,719   952,966   7,242,753  

 Buildings  1,331,856   1,302,059   29,797   871,364   841,567   29,797  

 Plant and equipment   79,030,939   59,464,212   19,566,727   81,941,609   60,101,976   21,839,633  
             

Total  88,069,447   61,719,237   26,350,210   91,008,692   61,896,509   29,112,183  
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15. DEFERRED TAX 
 

The origin of deferred tax recorded for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 was as follows: 
 

15.1. Deferred tax assets 
 

The recovery of deferred tax asset balances requires enough taxable profits to be gained in the future. 
The company deems future earnings forecasts will cover the recovery of these assets.  
 

Deferred tax assets 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 
     

 For provisions   120,511   27,806  

 For employee benefit obligations   453,589   265,320  

 For accounts receivable   228,033   190,027  
     

Total  802,133   483,153  

 
15.2. Deferred tax liabilities 

 

Deferred tax liabilities 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 
     

 For property, plant and equipment   9,841,028   9,558,822  

 For property, plant and equipment revaluations   6,441,835   6,550,241  
     

Total  16,282,863   16,109,063  
 

15.3. Deferred tax transactions of the balance sheet  
 

Deferred tax asset transactions 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 
     

 Initial balance  483,153   590,771  
     

 Other increases (decreases) in deferred tax assets   318,980   (107,618) 
     

 Changes in deferred tax assets, total   318,980   (107,618) 
     

Total  802,133   483,153  

 

Deferred tax liability transactions 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 
     

 Initial balance  16,109,063   16,439,327  
     

 Other increases (decreases) in deferred tax liabilities   173,800   (330,264) 
     

 Changes in deferred tax liabilities, total  173,800   (330,264) 
     

Total  16,282,863   16,109,063  
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15.4. Accounting item offset 
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally executable right to offset 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when deferred asset and liability income tax 
is related to income tax which the same tax authority taxes the same entity or different entities 
taxed for which there is the intention of settling the balances on net bases. 
 

   31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

              

Item  
Assets  

(liabilities) 
 Offset values  

Closing net 
balances  

 
Assets  

(liabilities) 
 Offset values  

Closing net 
balances  

   USD  USD  USD  USD  USD  USD 
             

 Deferred tax assets   802,133   (802,133)  0   483,153   (483,153)  0  

 Deferred tax liabilities  (16,282,863)  802,133   (15,480,730)  (16,109,063)  483,153   (15,625,910) 
             

Total  (15,480,730)  0   (15,480,730)  (15,625,910)  0   (15,625,910) 

 

16. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
 
 

16.1. Types of other financial liabilities 
 

Financial liabilities 

 

Currency 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

         

  Current  Non-current  Current  Non-current 

  USD  USD  USD  USD 
           

 Bank borrowings    CL$   0   0   7,553,281   0  

 Bank borrowings   US$   17,639,044   23,585,078   6,588,712   23,591,745  
           

 Total bank borrowings     17,639,044   23,585,078   14,141,993   23,591,745  
           

 Hedge liabilities    US$   48,798   0   518,275   0  

 Hedge liabilities     48,798   0   518,275   0  
           

Total      17,687,842   23,585,078   14,660,268   23,591,745  
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16.2. Currency and maturity breakdown of bank borrowings 
 

Breakdown for the year ended 31 December 2016: 

 

Country 
Debtor 

company 
Creditor 

institution 
Currency 

Type of 
amortisation 

Real 
annual 

rate  

Nominal 
annual 

rate 
Guarantee 

Current Non-current 

Maturity Total current Maturity 
Total non-

current 

Up to 1 
month 

1 to 3 
months 

3 to 12 
months 

31/12/2016 

1 to 2 years More than 2 
up to 3 years 

More than 3 
up to 4 years 

More than 4 
up to 5 years 

31/12/2016 

USD USD USD USD USD USD USD USD USD 

                 

Chile  Gasmar S.A.   Banco BBVA  USD On maturity 4.01% 4.01% No guarantee 0  0  3,119  3,119  0  0  0  4,000,000  4,000,000  

Chile  Gasmar S.A.   Banco Estado  USD On maturity 3.01% 3.01% No guarantee 0  0  20,444  20,444  0  4,000,000  0  0  4,000,000  

Chile  Gasmar S.A.   Banco Estado  USD On maturity 3.00% 3.00% No guarantee 0  0  676,859  676,859  666,667  666,667  0  0  1,333,334  

Chile  Gasmar S.A.   Banco BBVA  USD On maturity 2.45% 2.45% No guarantee 0  0  9,045  9,045  0  0  4,666,667  0  4,666,667  

Chile  Gasmar S.A.   Banco BBVA  USD On maturity 2.50% 2.50% No guarantee 0  0  27,987  27,987  0  0  2,425,077  0  2,425,077  

Chile  Gasmar S.A.   Banco Estado  USD On maturity 1.45% 1.45% No guarantee 0  0  8,775  8,775  0  0  0  1,500,000  1,500,000  

Chile  Gasmar S.A.   Banco BCI  USD On maturity 1.85% 1.85% No guarantee 0  0  4,856,160  4,856,160  0  0  0  0  0  

Chile  Gasmar S.A.   Banco BCI  USD On maturity 2.22% 2.22% No guarantee 0  0  18,896  18,896  4,840,000  0  0  0  4,840,000  

Chile  Gasmar S.A.   Banco BCI  USD On maturity 2.47% 2.47% No guarantee 0  0  3,515  3,515  0  820,000  0  0  820,000  

Chile  Gasmar S.A.   Banco Estado  USD On maturity 0.81% 0.81% No guarantee 3,739,428  0  0  3,739,428  0  0  0  0  0  

Chile  Gasmar S.A.   Banco BBVA  USD On maturity 0.81% 0.81% No guarantee 3,526,329  0  0  3,526,329  0  0  0  0  0  

Chile  Gasmar S.A.   Banco BBVA  USD On maturity 0.85% 0.85% No guarantee 0  4,748,487  0  4,748,487  0  0  0  0  0  

                 

Total               7,265,757  4,748,487  5,624,800  17,639,044  5,506,667  5,486,667  7,091,744  5,500,000  23,585,078  
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Breakdown for the year ended 31 December 2015: 

 

Country 
Debtor 

company 
Creditor 

institution 
Currency 

Type of 
amortisation 

Real 
annual 

rate  

Nominal 
annual 

rate 
Guarantee 

Current Non-current 

Maturity Total current Maturity 
Total non-

current 

Up to 1 
month 

1 to 3 
months 

3 to 12 
months 

31/12/2015 

1 to 2 years More than 
2 

up to 3 
years 

More than 
3 

up to 4 
years 

More than 
4 

up to 5 
years 

31/12/2015 

USD USD USD USD USD USD USD USD USD 

                 

Chile   Gasmar S.A   Banco Estado  US$ On maturity 3.80% 3.80% No guarantee 0  0  3,335,796  3,335,796  0  0  0  0  0  

Chile   Gasmar S.A   Banco Estado  US$ On maturity 2.67% 2.67% No guarantee 0  0  16,322  16,322  0  0  4,000,000  0  4,000,000  

Chile   Gasmar S.A   Banco Estado  US$ Annual 2.66% 2.66% No guarantee 0  0  677,507  677,507  666,666  666,666  666,667  0  1,999,999  

Chile   Gasmar S.A   Banco BBVA  US$ On maturity 1.92% 1.92% No guarantee 0  0  6,734  6,734  0  0  0  4,666,667  4,666,667  

Chile   Gasmar S.A   Banco BBVA  US$ On maturity 1.96% 1.96% No guarantee 0  0  22,052  22,052  0  0  0  2,425,079  2,425,079  

Chile   Gasmar S.A   Banco BCI  US$ On maturity 1.11% 1.11% No guarantee 0  0  1,502,546  1,502,546  0  0  0  0  0  

Chile   Gasmar S.A   Banco BCI  US$ On maturity 1.51% 1.51% No guarantee 0  0  11,172  11,172  4,840,000  0  0  0  4,840,000  

Chile   Gasmar S.A   Banco BCI  US$ On maturity 1.88% 1.88% No guarantee 0  0  13,907  13,907  0  4,840,000  0  0  4,840,000  

Chile   Gasmar S.A   Banco BCI  US$ On maturity 2.13% 2.13% No guarantee 0  0  2,669  2,669  0  0  820,000  0  820,000  

Chile   Gasmar S.A   Santander  US$ On maturity 0.25% 0.25% No guarantee 1,000,007  0  0  1,000,007  0  0  0  0  0  

Chile   Gasmar S.A   Banco BBVA  US$ On maturity 3.18% 3.18% No guarantee 3,677,520  0  0  3,677,520  0  0  0  0  0  

Chile   Gasmar S.A   Banco de Chile  CL$ On maturity 4.20% 4.20% No guarantee 659  0  0  659  0  0  0  0  0  

Chile   Gasmar S.A   Banco Corpbanca  CL$ On maturity 4.20% 4.20% No guarantee 24  0  0  24  0  0  0  0  0  

Chile   Gasmar S.A   Banco Santander  CL$ On maturity 4.20% 4.20% No guarantee 3,875,078  0  0  3,875,078  0  0  0  0  0  

                 

Total               8,553,288  0  5,588,705  14,141,993  5,506,666  5,506,666  5,486,667  7,091,746  23,591,745  
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17. TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 
 
 

The breakdown of this item for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 was as follows: 
 

Trade payables and other accounts payable 

 Current 
    

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 
     

 Energy and other gas suppliers   19,758,447   14,570,138  

 Withholdings   1,787,480   342,387  

 Accumulated (or accrued) liabilities (**)   677,082   500,486  

 Non-energy suppliers  1,106,087   1,033,058  
     

Total   23,329,096   16,446,069  

 

17.1. Accumulated (or accrued) liabilities 
 

(**) Accumulated (or accrued) liabilities 

 Current 
    

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 
     

 Employee holidays   406,199   123,584  

 Public holiday allowances   40,136   41,480  

 Profit sharing   230,747   335,422  
     

Total  677,082   500,486  

 

 
18. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PROVISIONS 
 

The breakdown of this item for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 was as follows: 
 

18.1. Item breakdown 
 

Employee benefit provision 

 Current  Non-current 
        

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD  USD  USD 
         

 Severance payment provision   0   0  1,679,959   1,137,718  
         

Total   0   0   1,679,959   1,137,718  

  



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements                                 Page 50                                         
 

18.2. Breakdown of post-employment and similar provisions 
 

Present value of post-employment and similar obligations 

 Severance payment 
    

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 
     

 Present value of the obligation, initial balance    1,137,718   1,222,132  
     

 Cost of the current service for defined benefit plan obligations  412,331   128,872  

 Cost of interest for defined benefit plan obligations  22,206   17,751  

 Actuarial profits (losses) for defined benefit plan obligations  126,903   (83,796) 

 Increase (decrease) in foreign currency exchange for defined benefit plan obligations  69,150   (116,521) 

 Contributions paid for defined benefit plan obligations  (88,349)  (30,720) 
     

 Total provision changes  542,241   (84,414) 
     

Total  1,679,959   1,137,718  

 
18.3. Balance of post-employment and similar obligations 

 

Benefit plan balance 

 Severance payment 
    

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 
     

 Present obligation without defined benefit plan funds  1,679,959   1,137,718  
     

Total  1,679,959   1,137,718  

 
18.4. Expenses recognised in the income statement 

 

Expenses recognized in the income statement by function 

 Severance payment  

Income statement line 

     

 01/01/2016  01/01/2015  

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  

 USD  USD  
       

 Cost of the current service of the defined benefit plan  412,331  128,872   Sales cost – administration expenses  

 Cost of interest for the defined benefit plan  22,206  17,751   Financial costs  
       

Total  434,537  146,623   

 
For the year ended 31 December 2016, the sensitivity of the actuarial liability value for defined benefits 
due to variations of 1% of the discount rate generated the following effects: 
 

Discount rate sensitivity 
 

1% decrease 
USD  

1% increase 
USD 

     

Effect on the defined benefit obligations  127,882   (112,921) 
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18.5. Actuarial hypotheses  
 

Breakdown 
   

 Real discount rate used  1.84% 

 Future salary increase   3.70% 

 Mortality rate table  RV - 2014 

 Disability rate table  30% of the RV - 2014 

 Annual turnover rate   3.6% 

 
19. NET SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
 

19.1. Subscribed and paid-in capital 
For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, the share capital amounted to USD7,875,601. 

19.2. Number of subscribed and paid-up shares 
For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, the company’s equity was represented by 
3,065,772,798 non-par-value shares of one vote per share. There was no share issuance or 
redemption in the financial years mentioned.  
 

19.3. Dividend policies 
 The company maintains the custom of distributing a minimum guaranteed dividend of 30% of 
the net profit in the year.  
 

19.4. Dividends 
The following is a breakdown of the dividends paid for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 
2015: 

 
 
 

31/12/2016 

             

Description of the dividend paid  

Description of 
the kind of 

shares for which 
a dividend is 

paid 

 
Dividend 

payment date 
 

Dividend 
amount, gross 

 
Number of shares 

for which a 
dividend is paid 

 
Dividend 
per share 

 
Tax rate 

applicable to the 
dividend paid 

         USD     USD    
             

Final dividend for 2015  Single  18/04/2016  9,652,115   3,065,772,798   0.0031483   22.5% 

Interim dividend for 2016  Single  03/10/2016  6,700,000   3,065,772,798   0.0021854   24.0% 

Interim dividend for 2016  Single  27/12/2016  6,700,000   3,065,772,798   0.0021854   24.0% 
                    

Total        23,052,115           
 
 

31/12/2015 

             

Description of the dividend paid  

Description of the 
kind of shares for 

which a dividend is 
paid 

 
Dividend 

payment date 
 

Dividend 
amount, gross 

 
Number of shares 

for which a 
dividend is paid 

 
Dividend 
per share 

 
Tax rate applicable 

to the dividend paid 

         USD     USD    
             

Final dividend for 2014  Single  16/04/2015  19,383,225   3,065,772,798   0.0063225  21.0% 

Interim dividend for 2015  Single  29/09/2015  7,600,000   3,065,772,798   0.0024790  22.5% 

Interim dividend for 2015  Single  24/12/2015  7,600,000   3,065,772,798   0.0024790  22.5% 
                    

Total        34,583,225           

  



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements                                 Page 52                                         
 

 

19.5. Reserves 
 

19.5.1. Revaluation surplus  
These are the revaluations of property, plant and equipment, which are stated net of 
their respective deferred tax and depreciation, and the latter is recycled to retained 
earnings. 

 
19.5.2. Reserves for exchange rate differences after conversion 

This concept reflects the accrued income due to exchange rate fluctuations, when 
converting the financial statements of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, whose 
functional currency is different from the presentation currency of Gasmar S.A.. 
 

19.5.3. Cash flow hedge reserves 
This item shows the movements of the fair value of cash flow hedge derivatives 
measured at fair value with changes in shareholders’ equity. 

 
19.5.4. Profit and loss reserves for defined benefit plans 

These are the changes in the actuarial values of the provision for defined employee 
benefits. 
 

The breakdown of this item for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 was as follows:  

Reserves 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 
     

Revaluation surplus  17,252,444   19,268,684  

Reserves for exchange rate differences after conversion  (208,158)  (208,158) 

Cash flow hedge reserves  (4,696,173)  (394,777) 

Profit and loss reserves for defined benefit plans  (413,672)  (321,033) 
     

Total Reserves  11,934,441   18,344,716  

 
19.6. Retained earnings (losses) 

 
The following were the components of this item for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 

2015: 

Retained earnings (losses) 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

 USD  USD 
     

 Adjustment of the 1st application of the IFRS   19,735,691   19,735,691  

 Application of IAS 19 r   236,685   236,685  

 Retained earnings (losses)   6,560,970   6,560,970  

 Accrued recycling of the revaluation reserve surplus   11,284,222   9,684,874  

 Circular Letter N°856 of the Superintendency of Securities & Insurance (SVS)  (1,805,800)  (1,805,800) 

 Interim dividends   (13,400,000)  (15,200,000) 

 Income in the year   22,715,767   24,852,116  
     

Total   45,327,535   44,064,536  
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19.7. Reconciliation of other comprehensive income  
 

Other comprehensive income transactions for the year ended  Total 

        

31/12/2016  Gross amount  Tax effect   Net amount 
   USD  USD  USD 

       

 Profit (loss) after tax         22.715.767  
 

      

 Cash flow hedge reserves       

 Cash flow hedge profit (loss)  (6,179,174)  1,483,002   (4,696,172) 

 Reclassification to income in the year  509,389   (114,613)  394,776  
       

 Total transactions in the year   (5,669,785)  1,368,389   (4,301,396) 

       

 Revaluation reserves        

 Other comprehensive income, profit (loss) from revaluation  (571,087)  154,194   (416,893) 
       

 Total transactions in the year  (571,087)  154,194   (416,893) 

       

 Actuarial profit (loss) reserves for defined benefit plans       

 Actuarial profit (loss) for defined benefit plans  (126,903)  34,264   (92,639) 

       

 Total transactions in the year  (126,903)  34,264   (92,639) 
       

Total comprehensive income      17,904,839  

 

Other comprehensive income transactions for the year ended  Total 

        

31/12/2015  Gross amount  Tax effect   Net amount 
   USD  USD  USD 

  
     

 Profit (loss) after tax         24,852,116  
  

     

 Cash flow hedge reserves       

 Cash flow hedge profit (loss)  (509,389)  114,612   (394,777) 

 Reclassification to income in the year  (4,869,613)  1,022,619   (3,846,994) 
       

 Total transactions in the year  (5,379,002)  1,137,231   (4,241,771) 
       

 Conversion reserves        

 Profit (loss) from conversion differences   (69,534)  0  (69,534) 
       

 Total transactions in the year  (69,534)  0  (69,534) 
       

 Actuarial profit (loss) reserves for defined benefit plans       

 Actuarial profit (loss) for defined benefit plans  83,796   (18,854)  64,942  
       

 Total transactions in the year  83,796   (18,854)  64,942  
       

Total comprehensive income      20,605,753 
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20. CURRENT REVENUE 
 
 
 
 

20.1. Current revenue 
 

The breakdown of current revenue for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 was as 
follows: 

 
 
 
 

 

Current revenue 

 01/01/2016  01/01/2015 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 
      

 USD  USD 
     

 Sales   402,401,578   291,468,523  

 Gas sales   402,401,578   291,468,523  
     

 Services rendered   1,974,757   1,960,271  

 Other services rendered   1,974,757   1,960,271  
     

Total  404,376,335   293,428,794  

 
 

20.2.  Other revenue by function 
 
 

Other revenue by function 

 01/01/2016  01/01/2015 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

      

 USD  USD 

     

Other operating revenue  252,590   250,631  

     

Total  252,590   250,631  
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21. BREAKDOWN OF SIGNIFICANT INCOME 

 
21.1. Expenditure by type 

 
 

Expenditure by type of income statement, by function 

 01/01/2016  01/01/2015 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

      

 USD  USD 
     

 Sales cost   370,005,280   258,082,869  

 Administration cost   3,145,867   2,919,024  
     

Total  373,151,147   261,001,893  

 

Breakdown of expenses by type 

 Sales Cost Administration Expenses Income Statement 

 01/01/2016 01/01/2015 01/01/2016 01/01/2015 01/01/2016 01/01/2015 

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

             

 USD USD USD USD USD USD 
        

 Gas purchases   361,530,548  249,374,775  0  0  361,530,548  249,374,775  

 Employee expenses   1,757,621  1,414,757  2,226,790  2,200,085  3,984,411  3,614,842  

 Operation and maintenance expenses    3,114,666  3,518,775  0  0  3,114,666  3,518,775  

 Administration expenses   449,735  449,731  919,077  718,939  1,368,812  1,168,670  

 Depreciation   3,148,886  3,320,262  0  0  3,148,886  3,320,262  

 Amortisation   3,824  4,569  0  0  3,824  4,569  
        

Total  370,005,280  258,082,869  3,145,867  2,919,024  373,151,147  261,001,893  

 

21.2. Employee expenses 
 

Employee expenses 

 01/01/2016  01/01/2015 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

      

 USD  USD 
     

 Wages and salaries   2,775,863   2,830,298  

 Short-term employee benefits   789,015   647,382  

 Termination benefits   419,533   137,162  
     

Total  3,984,411   3,614,842  
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21.3. Depreciation and amortisation 
 

Breakdown 

 01/01/2016  01/01/2015 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

      

 USD  USD 
     

 Depreciation and withdrawals     

 Sales cost   3,148,886   3,320,262  
     

 Total depreciation   3,148,886   3,320,262  

     

 Amortisation      

Sales cost  3,824   4,569  
     

 Total amortisation   3,824   4,569  
     

Total  3,152,710   3,324,831  

 
 

21.4. Other profits (losses) 
 

Breakdown 

 01/01/2016  01/01/2015 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

      

 USD  USD 
     

Payment of directors’ fees   (46,664)  (44,015) 

Other profits (losses)  (14,662)  16,760  
     

Total  (61,326)  (27,255) 

 
22. FINANCIAL INCOME 
 

22.1. The breakdown of financial income and costs for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 
was as follows: 

 

Financial income 

 01/01/2016  01/01/2015 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

      

 USD  USD 
     

 Financial income      

 Commercial interest   12,051   4,352  
     

 Total financial income   12,051   4,352  

     

 Financial costs      

 Bank borrowing expenses   (1,894,735)  (1,854,309) 
     

 Total financial costs  (1,894,735)  (1,854,309) 
     

Total exchange rate differences (*)    (203,420)  491,325  
     

Total  (2,086,104)  (1,358,632) 
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22.2. The breakdown of exchange rate differences for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 was 
as follows: 

 

(*) Exchange rate differences 

 01/01/2016  01/01/2015 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

      

 USD  USD 

     

 Asset exchange rate differences      
     

 Cash and cash equivalents  248,034   115,657  

 Trade receivables and other accounts receivable   (279,224)  (460,124) 

 Accounts receivable from related companies   335,752   (314,172) 
     

 Total asset exchange rate differences  304,562   (658,639) 

     

 Liability exchange rate differences      
     

 Other financial liabilities   (72,738)  53,463  

 Trade payables and other accounts payable  (419,370)  891,262  

 Accounts payable to related companies   46,148   80,646  

 Employee benefit provisions   (62,022)  124,593  
     

 Total liability exchange rate differences  (507,982)  1,149,964  

     

Total exchange rate differences, net  (203,420)  491,325  

 

23. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 
 
For the year ended 31 December 2016, the company calculated and accounted for income tax at a rate of 
24% (22.5% for the year ended 31 December 2015), based on what is set forth in Law N°20.780, published 
in the Official Gazette on 29 September 2014. 
 
The same Law established a gradual increase in corporate income tax. As of 2017, taxpayers under the 
attributed income tax system will have a rate of 25%, whereas companies under the semi-integrated system 
will have a rate of 25.5%. Both systems will have a 27% rate as of 2018. 
  
By means of the publication of Law N°20.899 in the Official Gazette on 8 February 2016, Law N°20.780 was 
modified, simplifying the income tax system, establishing that limited companies shall be bound to apply 
the semi-integrated tax system and only the following bodies corporate shall be able to choose between 
the attributed or semi-integrated system: independent businessmen, individual limited liability companies, 
communities, joint stock companies, taxpayers of article 58 number 1 and partnerships (excluding 
partnerships limited by shares) whose owners, partners or co-owners are all natural people with domicile 
or residence in Chile and/or taxpayers with no domicile or residence in Chile. 
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23.1. Income tax effect on income   
 

The income tax charge on income is shown according to the breakdown below: 

Income tax (expense) revenue for current and deferred portions 

 01/01/2016  01/01/2015 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

      

 USD  USD 
     

 Current income tax      

 Current tax (expense) revenue   (7,553,728)  (7,077,740) 

 Adjustments of current tax from previous years   477,977   0  

     

 Total current income tax expense, net   (7,075,751)  (7,077,740) 

     

 Deferred tax     

 Other components of the deferred tax (expense) revenue   (43,279)  179,610  
     

 Total deferred tax (expense) revenue, net  (43,279)  179,610  
     

Income tax (expense) revenue  (7,119,030)  (6,898,130) 

 

 
23.2. Effect on income due to income tax 

 

Foreign and domestic income tax (expense) revenue 

 01/01/2016  01/01/2015 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

      

 USD  USD 

     

Current income tax     

 Current income tax expense, net, national   (7,075,751)  (7,077,740) 
     

Total current income tax expense, net  (7,075,751)  (7,077,740) 

     

 Deferred tax      

 Deferred tax (expense) revenue, net, national   (43,279)  179,610  
     

 Total deferred tax (expense) revenue, net  (43,279)  179,610  
     

Income tax (expense) revenue  (7,119,030)  (6,898,130) 
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23.3. Reconciliation of income tax income accounted for and the effective rate 
 

Reconciliation of the tax expense using the legal rate and the tax expense using the effective rate 

 01/01/2016  01/01/2016  01/01/2015  01/01/2015 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2015 

            

 USD  %  USD  % 
         

 Accounting income  29,834,797     31,750,246    
         

 Total tax (expense) revenue at the applicable tax rate   (7,160,351)  24.0%  (7,143,805)  22.5% 
         

Other tax effects for reconciliation between the accounting income and tax expense (revenue)  41,321   -0.1%  245,675   -0.8% 
         

 Total tax expense adjustments using the legal rate  41,321   -0.1%  245,675   -0.8% 
         

 Income tax (expense) revenue, continued operations  (7,119,030)  23.9%  (6,898,130)  21.7% 

 
23.4. Income tax effect on other comprehensive income  

 

Amount before tax 

 01/01/2016  01/01/2015 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

            

 

Amount before 
tax 

 Income tax 
expense 

(revenue) 

 Amount after 
tax 

 Amount before 
tax 

 Income tax 
expense 

(revenue) 

 Amount after 
tax 

 USD  USD   USD  USD  USD  USD 
             

 Revaluation profit (loss)   (571,087)  154,194   (416,893)  0   0   0  

 Cash flow hedge   (5,669,785)  1,368,389   (4,301,396)  (5,379,002)  1,137,231   (4,241,771) 

 Exchange rate difference from conversion   0   0   0   (69,534)  0   (69,534) 

 Actuarial profit (loss) for defined  benefit plans  (126,903)  34,264   (92,639)  83,796   (18,854)  64,942  
             

Total    1,556,847       1,118,377    
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24. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

The basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the company’s 
shareholders by the weighted average of the common outstanding stock in the year, excluding, 
should there be any, common shares acquired by the company and kept as treasury stock. 
 

 
 

INCOME STATEMENT BY FUNCTION 

 01/01/2016  01/01/2015 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

      

 USD  USD 

     

 Profit (loss) attributable to the controller’s owners  22,715,767   24,852,116  

     

 Profit (loss) per basic share and diluted into continuing operations  0.00740950   0.00810630  

     

Number of shares  3,065,772,798   3,065,772,798  

 

25. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

There were no significant financial or accounting events as of 31 December 2016, the closing date of the 
financial statements and their presentation date, which might affect the interpretation thereof or the 
company’s shareholders’ equity.  
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